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 1.  TIME:  8:30   CASE#: MSC17-01143 
CASE NAME: WATERSON VS. OSI/FLEMING'S, LLC 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
SET BY SHEREE WATERSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear in person.  See line #9. 

 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC14-02334 
CASE NAME: AGUILERA VS. FARLEY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO QUASH SERVICE OF SUMMONS 
FILED BY JERAH RAE FARLEY, ROSA CRUZ 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted.  Even if service was validly made, the summons and complaint were not served within 
3 years from the filing of this case.  Plaintiff had ample opportunity to properly obtain an order 
for publication but failed to timely do so.  Case is dismissed pursuant to CCP §583.210 et seq. 

 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01138 
CASE NAME: HOOSHMAND VS MAHONEY 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01138 
CASE NAME: HOOSHMAND VS. MAHONEY 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE 5th Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY MARK HOOSHMAND 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Plaintiff Mark Hooshmand’s motion for leave to file a Fifth Amended Complaint is 

granted, subject to the conditions listed below. Plaintiff shall edit his complaint as required and 

file and serve the Fifth Amended Complaint by August 23, 2018.  
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Conditions 

1. The allegations in the proposed Fifth Amended Complaint related to punitive damages 

must be removed before the complaint is filed. The Court has already granted a motion for 

summary adjudication as to punitive damages.  

2. Plaintiff’s claim for injunctive relief shall be removed as the Court has previously ruled 

in this case that “the claim for injunctive relief is just a remedy and not a cause of action. (Shell 

Oil v. Richter (1942) 52 Cal.app.2d 164, 168).” However, if Plaintiff has another claim that could 

support injunctive relief then he may include the request for injunctive relief as part of the prayer.  

3. The Court will allow some additional discovery related to the new matters added in the 

Fifth Amended Complaint. The parties are encouraged to work out discovery issues among 

themselves, however, the parties may raise potential discovery issues with the Court during the 

next case management conference.  

Merits of Motion 

There is “a policy of great liberality in permitting amendments to the complaint at any 

stage of the proceedings, up to and including trial [citations]…” (Magpali v. Farmers Group 

(1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 471, 487.) However, leave to amend can be denied where there is “ 

‘inexcusable delay and probable prejudice to the opposing party’… [Citation.]” (Ibid; see also, 

Kittredge Sports Co. v. Superior Court (1989) 213 Cal.App.3d 1045, 1048 (even assuming there 

is unreasonable delay, “it is an abuse of discretion to deny leave to amend where the opposing 

party was not misled or prejudiced by the amendment.”).) Leave to amend can be denied where 

the proposed amendment is insufficient to state a cause of action, however, this rule is most 

appropriate “in cases in which the insufficiency of the proposed amendment is established by 

controlling precedent and where the insufficiency could not be cured by further appropriate 

amendment.” (Cal. Casualty Gen. Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (1985) 173 Cal.App.3d 274, 

280-281.) 

In Plaintiff’s Fifth Amended Complaint he seeks to add claims for encroachment, 

injunctive relief and quiet title based on his claim to an easement listed in Parcel 3. Plaintiff also 

seeks to add punitive damages allegations to his complaint and to make several other smaller 

changes to the complaint.  

It is clear that Plaintiff has unreasonably delayed in seeking to file his Fifth Amended 

Complaint. The facts that Plaintiff discovered include a property survey in December 2017 and 

Defendants’ answer with new affirmative defenses, which was filed on March 6, 2018. Even 

assuming both of these items have actually provided new facts, there is no explanation for why 

Plaintiff waited until June 19, 2018 to file this motion.  

However, unreasonable delay is not enough to deny a motion for leave to amend. There 

must also be prejudice. Defendants have not shown sufficient prejudice for this Court to deny 
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leave to amend. Therefore, leave to amend must be granted. That being said, the Court notes 

that this will be the fourth time Plaintiff has amended his complaint and the Court is unlikely to 

allow any further amendments to the complaint. 

 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-02088 
CASE NAME: MANANDHAR VS. INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Appear. 

 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-02088 
CASE NAME: MANANDHAR VS. INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Appear. 

Defendant’s motion for summary judgment is granted. 

Facts 
 
Plaintiff is a civil engineer.  He works for the City of Richmond.   
 
On July 9, 2012, he signed an application to join defendant International Federation of 

Professional and Technical Engineers Local 21 (“Local 21” or the “Union”.)  The application 
contained an authorization for the union to collect monthly dues by automatic payroll deduction.  
Union membership was voluntary, not mandatory.  The Union collects dues from over 9,000 
public employees.  (Undisputed Material Fact (“UMF”) 4.)   

 
In Article XIV, the union’s Bylaws contain the following pertinent provisions concerning 

the payment of dues:  “A.  [M]embers . . . shall be required to pay dues . . . and shall tender with 
their application for membership one month’s dues, or provide written authorization of salary 
deduction; B.  . . . Dues shall be payable in advance or by payroll salary deduction.”  
(Defendant’s Request for Judicial Notice (“RJN”), Bylaws attached to Ex. 1, p. 13 (emphasis 
added).)   Nevertheless, the Union presents evidence now that its policy is to allow no option.  
All members must pay by automatic payroll deduction unless a member is on an unpaid leave of 
absence, and is therefore not receiving any wages.  (Muscat Decl., ¶ 2.) 

 
On a previous version of this motion, plaintiff submitted the declaration of Stan Fleury, 

which states the Union permitted Fleury to stop the automatic payroll deduction unconditionally 
in June 2014.  (See Fleury Decl. filed 7/12/16, ¶ 2-4.)   
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Plaintiff became aware of Fleury had allegedly accomplished, and on November 7, 2014, 
he notified the Union of his choice to cease payroll deduction as well and to pay in advance 
instead.  He tendered a check for the next month’s dues.  The Union initially accepted the 
check, but on December 19, 2014 notified plaintiff it would provide a refund.  The Union 
continued to collect his dues by automatic payroll deduction. 

 
The Union argues the Fleury Declaration is misleading and that Fleury may have 

stopped paying dues automatically only when he completely withdrew from the union and 
stopped paying dues at all.   

 
The Union has offered to fully rescind plaintiff’s membership and dues authorization 

form.  (UMF 4.)  However, if he continues to remain a member, it insists that he pay by 
automatic payroll deduction.     

 
Analysis 
 
Plaintiff’s complaint alleges a cause of action for breach of contract.  He does not seek 

the recovery of damages, but claims he has been injured and faces irreparable injury.  He 
alleges he will suffer a negative impact on his financial situation and loss of control of his 
personal finances if the Union continues to apply the automatic payroll deduction.  (Complaint, ¶ 
25 and at 8:15.)  He contends his contract with the Union, as reflected by the Bylaws, permits 
him to pay either by automatic payroll deduction or in advance.  He wants to specifically enforce 
his right to pay in advance rather than by automatic payroll deduction, and seeks an injunction 
preventing the Union from collecting dues through payroll deduction.  (Complaint at 8:8-13.) 

 
The elements of a cause of action for breach of contract are:   (1) the contract, (2) 

plaintiff's performance or excuse for non-performance, (3) defendant's breach, and (4) damage 
to plaintiff therefrom.”  (Acoustics, Inc. v. Trepte Constr. Co. (1971) 14 Cal.App.3d 887, 913.)   

 
Specific performance is available as a remedy for breach of contract except as provided 

by statute or case law.  (See CC § 3366, 3384.)  To obtain specific performance, a plaintiff must 
show (1) the inadequacy of his legal remedy; (2) an underlying contract that is both reasonable 
and supported by adequate consideration; (3) the existence of a mutuality of remedies; (4) 
contractual terms which are sufficiently definite to enable the court to know what it is to enforce; 
and (5) a substantial similarity of the requested performance to that promised in the contract.  
(Real Estate Analytics, LLC v. Vallas (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 463, 472.)  A contract may be 
specifically enforced only where it is not inequitable to do so.  (See Agard v. Valencia (1870) 39 
Cal. 292, 302.)  That the plaintiff may have suffered no monetary damage would not defeat his 
right to specific performance.  (Union Oil Co. of California v. Greka Energy Corp. (2008) 165 
Cal.App.4th 129, 136.)   
 

Plaintiff mainly argues that the Bylaws unequivocally give him the right to pay in advance 
rather than through automatic payroll deduction, and the Union’s interpretation to the contrary 
should not be given credence because it comes from the Executive Director and not from the 
Delegate Assembly.  He also argues that a union official gave him permission to pay in advance 
rather than through automatic payroll deduction before that official reversed his position. 
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However, even if all this is true, it would be inequitable to specifically enforce the 
provision of the Bylaws allegedly permitting payment in advance.  Setting that precedent for 
plaintiff could open the door to similar claims by many other members, which would cause 
the Union to incur additional costs to collect dues and have less funds available for other 
union purposes.  

 
Specific performance is available to give plaintiff what he bargained for.  However, he 

has not presented any evidence that he bargained for the right to pay his dues manually each 
month.  The document he signed to join the union said he would pay by automatic payroll 
deduction.  He only learned of the possibility of some other form of payment several years later.  
At that point, he tried to bargain for the right to a different form of payment, but the Union did not 
agree.  His choice then was to continue his membership on the Union’s terms or cancel it. 

 
Plaintiff never paid anything additional for the right to pay his dues manually.   Nor has 

he presented evidence of any other form of consideration for it.  (See CC § 1605.)  His response 
to point one of Issue 5 in the Separate Statement is just a reference back to his complaint.  A 
plaintiff may not rely on his complaint to create an issue of fact to oppose a motion for summary 
judgment.  He must submit evidence.  (Roman v. BRE Properties, Inc. (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 
1040, 1054.)    

 
After defendant filed its Reply Brief on June 28, 2018, plaintiff filed a Second Declaration 

in support of his Opposition on August 2, 2018.  Plaintiff filed this Second Declaration late and 
without any authority to do so.  Further, much of it consists of argument.  The court has not 
considered it. 

 
Plaintiff fares no better on his claim for injunctive relief.  A permanent injunction may be 

awarded where (1) pecuniary compensation would not afford adequate relief; (2) it would be 
extremely difficult to ascertain the amount of compensation which would afford adequate relief; 
(3) the restraint is necessary to prevent a multiplicity of judicial proceedings; or (4) the obligation 
arises from a trust.  (CC § 3422.)   

 
The first two of these grounds embody the requirement that, to obtain an injunction, a 

plaintiff must ordinarily show that the defendant's wrongful acts threaten to cause irreparable 
injury.  (Grail Semiconductor, Inc. v. Mitsubishi Electric & Electronics USA, Inc. (2014) 225 
Cal.App.4th 786, 800.)   The term “irreparable injury” means “that species of damages, whether 
great or small, that ought not to be submitted to on the one hand or inflicted on the other.”  
(Anderson v. Souza (1952) 38 Cal.2d 825, 834.)   

 
Again, plaintiff has not submitted evidence of any injury, whether great or small, from 

having to pay union dues through automatic payroll deduction.  On the other hand, defendant 
has submitted evidence that plaintiff has not suffered harm.  He will pay the same dues at 
approximately the same time, however he pays them.   

 
Further, an injunction may not be granted to prevent the breach of a contract the 

performance of which would not be specifically enforced.  (CC § 3423 (e).)  The court has 
already concluded that plaintiff is not entitled to specific performance. 
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 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00483 
CASE NAME: KILEY VS. LIGON 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY JANELLE LIGON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Off calendar per fax.  Substitution of Attorney filed 8/2/18. 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01983 
CASE NAME: FIEL VS. FALCON CRITICAL 
HEARING ON MOTION TO DEEM MATTERS ADMITTED 
FILED BY FALCON CRITICAL CARE TRANSPORT, JACOB UYEYAMA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted.  No opposition.  All admissions are deemed admitted.  Plaintiff is ordered to provide a 
verified response to the Interrogatories, Set 2, by August 30, 2018.  There was no substantial 
justification for Plaintiff’s failure to respond to these discovery requests.  Sanctions are awarded 
in the amount of $750. 

 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01143 
CASE NAME: WATERSON VS. OSI/FLEMING'S 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSES TO REQUEST FOR PRODUCT. (SET 1) 
FILED BY SHEREE WATERSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear in person.  Counsel will be given a room in which to meaningfully meet and confer on 
resolving this discovery dispute. 

 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01403 
CASE NAME: VARGAS VS. RILEY 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CITY OF RICHMOND 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
              Defendant City of Richmond’s Demurrer to the First Amended Complaint is sustained.  
Plaintiff shall file and serve the amended complaint on or before August 29, 2018. 
 
Background Facts  
 Plaintiff Manuel Vargas alleges he was unlawfully stopped by a Richmond Police Officer 
Dedrick Riley on October 14, 2015, around 7:45 a.m. Officer Riley ordered Plaintiff out of his 
truck, searched and handcuffed. Plaintiff’s truck was towed away.    
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            On October 26, 2015, a citation was filed/issued against Plaintiff for failing to yield to 
traffic sign or signal in violation of Cal. Vehicle Code § 21461(a) and for driving on a suspended 
license in violation of CVC § 14601.1(a), arising out of the October 14, 2015 arrest.  Plaintiff was 
arraigned and pleaded not guilty on February 22, 2016.   Plaintiff represented himself at the 
court trial on April 21, 2016.  Plaintiff was found guilty on both counts. (See Request for Judicial 
Notice.) 
  
Merits 
 Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure §§ 430.30 and 430.10, the City of Richmond 
demurs to the First Amended Complaint on the ground it is uncertain, fails to state a cause of 
action, and fails to state facts sufficient to constitute any causes of action against Defendant, 
City of Richmond. 
 
 

A. The Entirety of the FAC is not barred by Heck v. Humphrey  
 

  Defendant argues the entire First Amended Complaint is barred under Heck v. 
Humphrey (1994) 512 U.S. 477. Defendant argues that if Plaintiff were to prevail on any of the 
claims he asserts in the Amended Complaint arising out of the traffic stop, it would necessarily 
imply the invalidity of Plaintiff’s convictions.  As such, the claims are Heck-barred.  The U.S. 
Supreme Court held in Heck v. Humphrey (1994) 512 U.S. 477 held:  

[I]n order to recover damages for allegedly unconstitutional conviction or 
imprisonment, or for other harm caused by actions whose unlawfulness would 
render a conviction or sentence invalid, a § 1983 plaintiff must prove that the 
conviction or sentence has been reversed on direct appeal, expunged by 
executive order, declared invalid by a state tribunal authorized to make such 
determination, or called into question by a federal court's issuance of a writ of 
habeas corpus, 28 U.S.C. § 2254. A claim for damages bearing that relationship 
to a conviction or sentence that has not been so invalidated is not cognizable 
under § 1983.  
 

(Heck v. Humphrey (1994) 512 U.S. 477, 486-487. 
 
  Heck “bars a section 1983 claim if it is inconsistent with a prior criminal conviction or 
sentence arising out of the same facts, unless the conviction or sentence has been 
subsequently resolved in the plaintiff's favor. (Id. at pp. 486–487.)” (Fetters v. County of Los 
Angeles (2016) 243 Cal.App.4th 825, 834.)     
  
 “Heck requires the reviewing court to answer three questions: (1) Was there an 
underlying conviction or sentence relating to the section 1983 claim? (2) Would a “judgment in 
favor of the plaintiff [in the section 1983 action] ‘necessarily imply’ … the invalidity of the prior 
conviction or sentence?” (3) “If so, was the prior conviction or sentence already invalidated or 
otherwise favorably terminated?”  (Fetters v. County of Los Angeles (2016) 243 Cal.App.4th 
825, 834.)    
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 Here, the Court declines to sustain the demurrer to the entire complaint on this ground.  
First, Plaintiff has not specifically alleged claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  Secondly, Plaintiff 
was found guilty on two Vehicle Code violations--a citation was filed/issued against Plaintiff for 
failing to yield to traffic sign or signal in violation of Cal. Vehicle Code § 21461(a) and for driving 
on a suspended license in violation of CVC § 14601.1(a).  All of the causes of action alleged in 
this complaint do not necessarily call into question the lawfulness of Plaintiff’s “conviction.” 
“When “a judgment in favor of the plaintiff would necessarily imply the invalidity of his conviction 
or sentence,” the Court held, § 1983 is not an available remedy. Ibid. ‘But if . . . the plaintiff's 
action, even if successful, will not demonstrate the invalidity of [his conviction or sentence], the [ 
§ 1983] action should be allowed to proceed . . . .’ Ibid.” (Skinner v. Switzer (2011) 562 U.S. 
521, 533.)   For example, the causes of action for assault, conversion, and abuse of process do 
not necessary imply the invalidity of the conviction for driving with a suspended license and 
failure to yield to traffic sign. 
     
 

B. Claims under Cal. Const. Art. I § 13 
 

 Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s First (Unlawful Detention), Second (Retaliation) and 
Third (False Arrest) claims should be dismissed because there is no private right of action for 
damages under Cal. Const. Art. I § 13.  “Plaintiffs may not bring damages claims directly under 
Article I, Section 13 or Section 7.”  (Lopez v. Youngblood (E.D.Cal. 2009) 609 F.Supp.2d 1125, 
1142.)  “‘Neither the plain language of the article I, section 13, nor the available legislative 
history indicate an intent on behalf of the California Legislature to permit the recovery of 
monetary damages for its violation.’ [Citation.]” (Brown v. County of Kern (E.D.Cal. Feb. 25, 
2008, No. 1:06-CV-00121-OWW-TAG) 2008 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 14216, at *50.) 
 
 Plaintiff argues his is not seeking damages under the Cal. Constitution, instead he is 
seeking damages under Civil Codes §§52(a),(b) and 52.1(a),(b).  However, there are no factual 
allegations to support recovery of damages under these sections.  The demurrer to the First, 
Second, and Third Causes of Action is sustained with leave to amend. 
 
 

C. Defendant Immune from Plaintiff’s State Law Claims 
 

 Defendant City of Richmond demurs to First (Unlawful Detention); Second (Retaliation 
[essentially false arrest); Third (False Arrest), Fourth (False Imprisonment), Eighth (Negligence, 
essentially false arrest), and Thirteenth (Bane Act [essentially false]) Causes of Action on the 
ground it is immune under Penal Code § 847. Penal Code § 847 provides in part: 
 

(b) There shall be no civil liability on the part of, and no cause of action shall arise 
against, any peace officer or federal criminal investigator or law enforcement 
officer described in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 830.8, acting within the scope 
of his or her authority, for false arrest or false imprisonment arising out of any 
arrest under any of the following circumstances: 
(1) The arrest was lawful, or the peace officer, at the time of the arrest, had 
reasonable cause to believe the arrest was lawful. 
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(2) The arrest was made pursuant to a charge made, upon reasonable cause, of 
the commission of a felony by the person to be arrested. 
(3) The arrest was made pursuant to the requirements of Section 142, 837, 838, 
or 839 

 
   Plaintiff argues Defendants had no authority to enforce California Vehicle Code therefore 
they acted beyond their scope of authority and in doing so lost all immunity.  However, the court 
found Vargas guilty of violations of failing to yield to traffic sign or signal in violation of Cal. 
Vehicle Code § 21461(a) and for driving on a suspended license in violation of CVC § 
14601.1(a).  The officers had reasonable suspicion, if not probable cause to make the traffic 
stop. Plaintiff has not alleged facts showing the officers’ conduct exceeded their scope of 
authority.  Furthermore, Plaintiff cited no authority to support his proposition that Defendants 
had no authority to enforce the Vehicle Code.  
 
 Plaintiff has not alleged facts showing the unlawfulness of the arrest or facts showing the 
officers were not acting within the scope of his or her authority.  It is not entirely clear if the 
detention amounted to an arrest.  Based on the immunity afforded under Penal Code § 847, 
the Court sustains the demurrer, with leave to amend, to the First Cause of Action 
(Unlawful Detention); Second Cause of Action (Retaliation [essentially false arrest); Third 
Cause of Action (False Arrest), and Fourth Cause of Action (False Imprisonment).  The 
Court is not convinced the immunity under Penal Code 847 extends to Plaintiff’s and Eighth 
Cause of Action (Negligence) and the Thirteenth Cause of Action (Violations of Civil Code § 
52.1.)   
 
 Additionally, the Court declines to sustain the demurrer on the ground the City of 
Richmond is immune under Gov. Code § 820.2 as to the Fourth (False Imprisonment), Fifth 
(Assault), Eighth (Negligence) and Thirteenth (Bane Act) Causes of Action under Gov. Code § 
820.2. “California law is clear that a police officer's decision to arrest a suspect is ‘not a basic 
policy decision, but only an operational decision by the police purporting to apply the law. The 
immunity provided by Government Code section 820.2 therefore does not apply.’ [Citations.]”  
(Percival v. Cty. of Alameda (N.D.Cal. Oct. 13, 2017, No. 17-cv-04065-WHO) 2017 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 169927, at *9-10.)  
 
 The Court also declines to sustain the demurrer on the ground the City of Richmond is 
immune under Gov. Code § 821.6 to Plaintiff’s Sixth Cause of Action (Conversion) and Seventh 
Cause of Action (Abuse of Process).  It provides: 
 

A public employee is not liable for injury caused by his instituting or prosecuting 
any judicial or administrative proceeding within the scope of his employment, 
even if he acts maliciously and without probable cause. 
 

 The immunity of this section is applicable to public employees. Ultimately, the City may 
be found to have immunity for these causes of action, but not at this stage. Section 815.2(b) 
provides that a public entity is not liable for the acts or omissions of an employee if that 
employee is immune from liability. Cal. Gov't Code § 815.2. At this point, no determination has 
been made that the employees are immune. 
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D. Plaintiff’s Monell-related Claims 

 
 Defendant demurs to Causes of Action Nine (Failure to Screen and Hire), Ten (Failure to 
Properly Train), Eleven (Failure to Supervise), and Twelve (Policy to Enforce CVC) on the 
ground they all amount to federal Monell liability claims.  Under Monell, “a local government may 
not be sued under § 1983 for an injury inflicted solely by its employees or agents. Instead, it is 
when execution of a government's policy or custom, whether made by its lawmakers or by those 
whose edicts or acts may fairly be said to represent official policy, inflicts the injury that the 
government as an entity is responsible under § 1983.” (Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Servs. (1978) 
436 U.S. 658, 694.)  Random acts or isolated incidents of unconstitutional action by a non-
policymaking employee are insufficient to establish the existence of a municipal policy or 
custom. (Spears v. City & County of San Francisco (N.D.Cal. July 21, 2008, No. C 06-4968 
VRW) 2008 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 65993, at *18.)  
 
 Municipalities cannot be held vicariously liable under § 1983 unless the plaintiff satisfy 
one of three conditions: 

First, the plaintiff may prove that a city employee committed the alleged 
constitutional violation pursuant to a formal governmental policy or a 
longstanding practice or custom which constitutes the standard operating 
procedure of the local governmental entity. Second, the plaintiff may establish 
that the individual who committed the constitutional tort was an official with final 
policy-making authority and that the challenged action itself thus constituted an 
act of official governmental policy. Whether a particular official has final policy-
making authority is a question of state law. Third, the plaintiff may prove that an 
official with final policy-making authority ratified a subordinate's unconstitutional 
decision or action and the basis for it. 

 
(Trevino v. Gates (9th Cir. 1996) 99 F.3d 911, 918.) 
 
 “After proving that one of the three circumstances existed, a plaintiff must also show that 
the circumstance was (1) the cause in fact and (2) the proximate cause of the constitutional 
deprivation. (Trevino v. Gates (9th Cir. 1996) 99 F.3d 911, 918.)  
 
 Here, Plaintiff failed to allege which Defendants were improperly trained, how the City 
would have been placed on notice of the failure to properly hire or train, and how the lack of 
training or improper hire was the proximate cause of his constitutional deprivation.  Plaintiff 
appears to concede there might be some mistakes in the complaint and seeks leave to amend.  
(Opposition, 17:1-4.) 
 
 There demurrer is sustained to the 9th to 12th Causes of Action with leave to 
amend on the ground Plaintiff failed to allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of 
action. 
 

E. Fifth Cause of Action (Assault) 
 Plaintiff alleges Defendants assaulted him by intentionally placing him in imminent 
apprehension of physical violence.  The complaint alleges that several officers were present.  
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Plaintiff failed to allege which officer he is seeking to hold liable as he has named a number of 
officers as defendants.  Furthermore, Plaintiff failed to allege conduct by the officers that amount 
to assault. Penal Code § 835 provides, “An arrest is made by an actual restraint of the person, 
or by submission to the custody of an officer. The person arrested may be subjected to such 
restraint as is reasonable for his arrest and detention.”  Plaintiff has not alleged conduct beyond 
the permissible restraint set forth in Penal Code § 835.   The demurrer is sustained with leave 
to amend. 
 
 

F. Sixth Cause of Action (Conversion) 
 

 Plaintiff alleges that Defendants’ agent and employees converted his property when 
ordered that his truck be seized and towed with a thirty-day hold.  “‘Conversion is the wrongful 
exercise of dominion over the property of another. The elements of a conversion claim are: (1) 
the plaintiff's ownership or right to possession of the property; (2) the defendant's conversion by 
a wrongful act or disposition of property rights; and (3) damages.’[Citation.]” (Lee v. Hanley 
(2015) 61 Cal.4th 1225, 1240.)    
 
 Plaintiff has failed to allege facts showing the City’s exercise of dominion over the 
vehicle was “wrongful.”  Plaintiff argues Defendants had no authority to enforce the Vehicle 
Code and Defendants were acting outside their scope of authority. The Court takes judicial 
notice of the fact Plaintiff was found guilty of violating Vehicle Code § 14601.1(a), driving while 
his driving privilege is suspended or revoked.  The vehicle driven by Plaintiff may be impounded 
pursuant to Vehicle Code § 14607.6. 
 
 The demurrer to the Sixth Cause of Action for Conversion is sustained without 
leave to amend. 
 
   

G. Seventh Cause of Action (Abuse of Process) 
 

 Plaintiff alleges Defendants acted without authority to enforce the California Vehicle 
Code.  Plaintiff alleges he appeared before a magistrate (Fagan), but Fagan never proved 
subject matter jurisdiction.  Plaintiff alleges Defendants actions were a wrongful misuse of the 
power of the court.   
 
   “The common law tort of abuse of process arises when one uses the court's process for 
a purpose other than that for which the process was designed. [Citations.]   ‘[T]he essence of 
the tort [is] … misuse of the power of the court….  To succeed in an action for abuse of process, 
a litigant must establish that the defendant (1) contemplated an ulterior motive in using the 
process, and (2) committed a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the regular 
conduct of the proceedings.’ [Citation]”   (S.A. v. Maiden (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 27, 41.” 
 
 Plaintiff failed to allege facts establishing the elements of this cause of action.  Plaintiff 
has not alleged facts showing how Defendant or its employees misused the court for an ulterior 
motive.  Plaintiff failed to allege facts showing the magistrate lacked subject matter jurisdiction. 
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Plaintiff has not shown how the defects can be cured.  The demurrer is sustained to the 
Seventh Cause of Action without leave to amend. 
 
 

H. Eighth Cause of Action (Negligence) 
 

 Plaintiff alleges Defendant City of Richmond failed to act with ordinary care in failing to 
property train and supervise the officers. Defendants demur on the ground Plaintiff failed to 
allege any specific facts.  
 
 “Except as otherwise provided by statute, (a) A public entity is not liable for an injury, 
whether such injury arises out of an act or omission of the public entity or a public employee or 
any defendants interfered with his rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the 
U.S. Constitution and the Thirteenth Amendment of the California Constitution to be free for 
unreasonable search and seizures.   
 
 The demurrer to the Eighth is sustained without leave to amend. 
 
 

I. Thirteenth Cause of Action (Violation of Civil Code §52.1) 
 

            Plaintiff failed to allege facts showing how the search and seizure were unconstitutional 
in light of the guilty findings for violations of Vehicle Code §§ 21461 and 14601.1(a). “Vehicle 
inventory searches are a well-defined exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement. 
(Colorado v. Bertine (1987) 479 U.S. 367, 371 [93 L. Ed. 2d 739, 107 S. Ct. 738].) Under the 
community caretaking doctrine, police may, without a warrant, impound and search a vehicle so 
long as they do so in conformance with the standardized procedures of the local police 
department and in furtherance of a community caretaking purpose.” (People v. Quick (2016) 5 
Cal.App.5th 1006, 1010.)   
 
 As to search of his persons, Plaintiff has not alleged facts showing the search was not 
incidental to his arrest. “The exception for searches incident to arrest permits the police to 
search a lawfully arrested person and areas within his immediate control.” 
(Smith v. Ohio (1990) 494 U.S. 541, 543.) 
 
 The demurrer to the Thirteenth Cause of Action is sustained with leave to amend.   
 
 

J. Fourteenth Cause of Action (Injunctive Relief) 
 
 Plaintiff alleges Defendants will continue to engage in the unlawful acts and in the 
policies and practices in violation of the Plaintiff’s constitutional rights and the rights of others.  
  
 Defendant demurs on the ground Plaintiff has not alleged a legal basis for such relief.  
Although Plaintiff states conclusory language that he faces real and immediate threat of 
repeated and irreparable damage, Plaintiff failed to allege facts showing the likelihood he will be 
wronged in a similar way.  “In order for a Plaintiff to have standing to seek an injunction, a 
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"[p]laintiff must demonstrate that he has suffered or is threatened with a [1] 'concrete and 
particularized' legal harm, coupled with [2] 'a sufficient likelihood that he will be wronged again in 
a similar way.' [Citation.]” (Cohen v. Cnty. of Santa Cruz (N.D.Cal. Feb. 3, 2017, No. 16-CV-
06404-LHK) 2017 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 16547, at *19-20.)  
 
 The demurrer to the Fourteenth Cause of Action is sustained without leave to 
amend. 
 
 
Request for Judicial Notice 
 
 Defendant requests the court to take judicial notice of the “Case Report for 2 09400 2 01 
Vargas Manuel” attached as Exhibit B to the Declaration of Amy S. Rothman.  Pursuant to 
Evidence Code § 452, the request is granted. 
  
 
Plaintiff’s Oversized Brief 
 
 Plaintiff responding memorandum far exceeded the page limitations set forth in CA 
Rules of Court, Rule 3.1113. While the court exercised its discretion and considered the excess 
pages in this motion, the Court is not inclined to do so in future unless permission is acquired 
from the Court prior to filing of an oversized brief. 
 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01508 
CASE NAME: WILLIAMS VS. PREMIER 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR TERMINATING SANCTIONS 
FILED BY JAMES WILLIAMS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01508 
CASE NAME: WILLIAMS VS. PREMIER 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00408 
CASE NAME: STEPHENS VS. WELLS FARGO 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appearance required.  Plaintiff should be prepared to address why he has not dismissed 
defendant Clear Recon Corp. from this case, given that plaintiff has abandoned his quiet title 
cause of action.  The Court acknowledges that plaintiff has stipulated to Clear Recon’s non-
monetary status under Civil Code section 2924l, but given that plaintiff’s current causes of action 
seek only monetary relief, the stipulation does not appear to serve any practical purpose. 

 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00408 
CASE NAME: STEPHENS VS. WELLS FARGO 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The Court rules as follows on the demurrer brought by defendant Wells Fargo Bank, 
N.A.  The demurrer is directed to plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint (“FAC”). 
 
 Defendant’s request for judicial notice is granted.  Defendant’s demurrer is sustained 
without leave to amend as to the Fourth Cause of Action, and is overruled as to the Second 
and Third Causes of Action.  Defendant shall file an answer on or before August 24, 2018.  
The basis for this ruling is as follows. 
 
 A The Second Cause of Action. 
 
 The Second Cause of Action is for violation of Civil Code section 2924.11.  Defendant’s 
arguments in support of the demurrer lack merit as to this cause of action. 
 
 First, plaintiff has adequately alleged that he submitted a “complete” application.  
(Civ. Code, § 2924.11, subds. (a) and (f).)  The Court finds that, unless a plaintiff’s other 
allegations affirmatively show an application to be incomplete, the plaintiff may allege the 
completeness of the application in general terms.  (See, FAC, ¶ 38.)  However, even if more 
detail were required, plaintiff has amply alleged such detail. 
 
 Plaintiff had knowledge from his experience with the first application in July 2017 
concerning what documents would be required.  (FAC, ¶¶ 12, 13, and 15.)  Plaintiff then had 
a telephone conversation with a Wells Fargo representative in September 2017 concerning 
what documents would be required for a new application documenting plaintiff’s new 
employment status.  (FAC, ¶ 17.)  Plaintiff submitted an application with these documents 
in September 2017, and again in January 2018 — never receiving notice from Wells Fargo that 
the applications were incomplete.  (FAC, ¶ 17 and  ¶ 21.) 
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 The Court further notes the potentially absurd consequences of defendant’s argument 
on completeness, which is that an application is never complete until the servicer says it is.  
Under defendant’s logic, if a servicer simply ignores an application, and neither requests 
additional documentation nor affirmatively acknowledges the application’s completeness 
(as apparently happened here), the servicer could thereby evade section 2924.11’s 
requirements entirely.  HBOR cannot reasonably be so construed. 
 
 As for the letter dated January 26, 2018, the quote that plaintiff provides does not negate 
liability under section 2924.11.  (FAC, ¶ 24.)  This gist of plaintiff’s allegations is that defendant 
refused to consider the September 2017 revised application or the January 2018 application on 
their merits, and failed to provide a detailed reason for any denial, as section 2924.11 requires.  
(See, Civ. Code, § 2924.11, subd. (b) [“the mortgage servicer shall send a written notice to the 
borrower identifying with specificity the reasons for the denial”]; FAC, ¶ 39 [defendant “did not 
consider Plaintiffs’ loan modification and, instead, rushed to foreclose on Plaintiff’s home”].)  
Whether this is true is a factual question beyond the scope of defendant’s demurrer. 
 
 Defendant’s fallback argument, that plaintiff has failed to allege a “material” violation, 
deserves little attention.  Plaintiff alleges that defendant conducted a trustee’s sale and sold 
plaintiff’s home to a third party, without properly considering a complete application for a loan 
modification demonstrating a substantial improvement in plaintiff’s financial situation.  
(FAC, ¶¶ 38-40.)  The Court finds this adequate. 
 
 B. The Third Cause of Action. 
 
 The Third Cause of Action is for violation of section 2923.7 of the Civil Code.  
Defendant’s arguments concerning this cause of action lack merit. 
 
 Defendant assets that it complied with the requirement to provide a single point of 
contact by putting plaintiff in touch with an employee, Paige Brown, who completely abandoned 
plaintiff after less than a month.  (FAC, ¶¶ 12-16.)  Ms. Paige refused to respond to any of 
plaintiff’s communications after August 4, 2017, and failed to provide plaintiff with the name of 
any other employee who would serve as her successor or who was on her ‘team.’  (FAC, ¶ 17 
and ¶ 18.)  When Ms. Brown finally did respond, five months after abandoning plaintiff and less 
than a month before plaintiff’s home was sold, Ms. Brown merely “informed Plaintiff that she was 
no longer Plaintiff’s single point of contact and informed Plaintiff that they would need to contact 
the main line to speak with someone.”  (FAC, ¶ 19.) 
 
 Defendant’s argument that these allegations show compliance with section 2923.7 
clearly lacks merit.  Plaintiff allegedly encountered precisely the sort of Kafkaesque run-around 
that section 2923.7 was designed to prevent.  Plaintiff has more than adequately alleged a 
violation of one of HBOR’s key statutory protections. 
 
 As a fallback position, defendant argues that any violation was not “material.”  
This argument also lacks merit. 
 
 Plaintiff alleges that he submitted all documents necessary to document a dramatic 
improvement in his financial circumstances.  (See, FAC, ¶ 21 [“their income had increased by 
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approximately $2,000.00 per month”].)  It is reasonable to assume that, if defendant had 
complied with section 2923.7, plaintiff’s single point of conduct would have helped ensure that 
this application was timely considered on the merits.  Further, even if the application were 
denied after a timely consideration on the merits, plaintiff would at least have had a meaningful 
opportunity to explore other alternatives to foreclosure, such as a Chapter 13 bankruptcy, 
instead of rushing to address a crisis situation in January 2018 — only weeks before the 
trustee’s sale.  Accordingly, the alleged violations are material. 
 
 C. The Fourth Cause of Action. 
 
 The Fourth Cause of Action is for violation of the ‘dual tracking’ provisions formerly found 
in section 2923.6 of the Civil Code.  Defendant’s demurrer is sustained because those 
provisions expired at the end of 2017, and no longer support a cause of action.  (See Rankin v. 
Longs Drug Stores California, Inc. (2009) 169 Cal.App.4th 1246, 1256 (“[w]hen a pending action 
seeks recovery based on a statutorily based obligation, and that statutory provision is repealed 
by legislation not containing an express saving clause, the California courts have consistently 
concluded the pending actions should be abated”].) 

 

ADD-ON 

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MS18-0201 
CASE NAME: WALSH VS. RAJ 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM DEFAULT 
FILED BY SAVITA RAJ 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
  

 

 


